Case 2024AP000791	Brief of Appellant	Filed 05-22-2024	Page 1 of 23	
STATE	OF WISCONSIN, COURT OF APPEALS, DIS		FILED 05-22-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS	
State	of Wisconsin) ,))	Brief		
(party designation) <u>Appellant-Plaintiff</u>)) -vs-	Cover		
_Josep	h Martin Blankenship)			
()) party designation) <u>Respondent-Defendant)</u>	Case No		
	ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FO	R Grant	COUNTY,	
	THE HONORABLE (Name of Judge)	<u>Craig R. Day</u> ,	PRESIDING	
	BRIEF OFAppe.lant-P.laintiff		*	

Name: <u>Anthony J. Pozorski, Sr</u>				
State Bar No. (if applicable): 1014070				
Address: 130 West Maple St., Lancaster WI 53813				
Telephone No.: 608.723.4237

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the officer had reasonable suspicion of impairment sufficient to request field sobriety tests based on the suspect driving late at night, a report of the suspect being a drunk driver, the suspect stopping without receiving a police signal, suspect's slurred speech, the suspect at one point being deprived of possession of his car keys by the people who presumably reported him, people believing that the suspect was an alcoholic, differing statements made by the suspect regarding the quantity and the timing of his alcohol consumption and the suspect's description of events that at first suggested he was being accused of having hit a child with his car.

Trial Court's answer: No

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 9/8/2023, the State of Wisconsin filed a criminal complaint charging Joseph Martin Blankenship with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant $(OMVI)-3^{rd}$ and Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration $(OMV/PAC)-3^{rd}$ (R.4). On 2/26/2024, the defendant filed a motion to suppress. (R.15). On 3/6/2024, the Trial Court conducted a motion hearing and granted the motion to suppress. On 4/16/2024, the Trial Court filed a written order granting the motion. (R.22).

The State appeals.

Statement on Oral Argument

Oral argument is not necessary. The parties can adequately address the issues with briefs.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication is not appropriate because the issue in this case does not meet any of the criteria under Section 809.23(1), Wis. Stats., and will be addressed by a single Appellate Judge.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

(BASED ON TRANSCRIPT FROM SUPPRESSION HEARING)

On 7/31/2023, Muscoda Police Officer Max Hougan had contact with Joseph Blankenship. (R. 20, pp. 5-6; App. pp.5-6). Dispatch had been notified that there was a potential drunk driver and that the reporter was trying to get the drunk driver's keys. (R. 20, p. 6; App. p.6). The vehicle was described as a blue Ford Escape. (R. 20, p. 6; App. p.6; App. p.6). Officer Hougan saw the vehicle being driven. (R. 20, p. 6; App. p.6). There were no other vehicles on the roadway because it was like 11:00 at night, almost midnight. (R. 20, p. 6; App. p.6). Officer Hougan got behind the vehicle. (R. 20, p. 6; App. p. 6). Officer Hougan did not observe any bad driving. (R. 20, p. 11; App. p. 11). The vehicle pulled over and stopped at 11:39 PM. (R. 20, pp. 6-7; App. pp. 6-7). Officer Hougan had been driving a marked squad, but Officer Hougan did not turn on his emergency lights or his siren. (R. 20, p. 7; App. p.7).

Officer Hougan approached Joseph Blankenship and asked if he was involved in a verbal altercation at the laundromat. (R. 20, p. 8; App. p.8). Joseph Blankenship admitted he was. (R. 20, p. 8; App. p. 8). Officer Hougan noticed that the defendant had slurred speech. (R. 20, p.

Page 9 of 23

8; App. p.8). Officer Hougan asked Joseph Blankenship if he had been drinking and Joseph Blankenship admitted that he had three beers about three hours earlier. (R. 20, p. 8; App. p.8). Officer Hougan did not smell an odor of intoxicants coming from Joseph Blankenship. (R. 20, p. 10; App. p.10). Joseph Blankenship did not have bloodshot or glassy eyes and did not exhibit any difficulty handling his identification documents. (R. 20, p. 11; App. p.11).

(BASED ON VIDEO/AUDIO RECORDING)

- Joseph Blankenship was seated in the driver's seat when Officer Hougan approached the vehicle.
- Joseph Blankenship stated he was just coming around Muscoda and seen how everything was going (R. 18, 00:50).
- Joseph Blankenship informed Officer Hougan that people think they know his story. (R. 18, 01:25).
- Joseph Blankenship was explaining how these other people were saying that he hit a kid and at first made it sound like it happened that night, but then clarified that the accusation was that night, but that the allegation stemmed from an incident that happened approximately three weeks earlier. (R. 18, 1:30-2:00).

- Joseph Blankenship admitted that they had his keys earlier (R. 18, 2:13).
- The recording demonstrates that Joseph Blankenship and Officer Hougan had a mutual understanding as to who the other half of the verbal altercation involved. (R. 18, 2:20).
- Joseph Blankenship indicated that the other people had his keys and threw them on his hood. (R. 18, 3:03).
- When asked why these other people would think he was drunk, Joseph Blankenship indicated that they thought he was an alcoholic. (R. 18, 3:20).
- Joseph Blankenship admitted to drinking and indicated that he had two or three approximately 3-4 hours earlier. (R. 18, 3:25).
- Officer Hougan asked if Joseph Blankenship would step out of the vehicle to perform field sobriety tests.
 (R. 18, 3:37).
- Prior to the field sobriety testing, Joseph
 Blankenship stated that he had about three beers four
 hours earlier. Joseph Blankenship then stated that he
 had about three beers five hours earlier. Joseph
 Blankenship then stated that his last beer was about
 three hours earlier. (R. 18, 4:20-5:02).

• The field sobriety testing then starts. (R. 18, 5:16).

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

In State v. Smith, 2018 WI 2 ¶ 9, 379 Wis. 2d 86, 95-

96, the Court stated,

A suppression issue presents a question of constitutional fact. See State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78 \P 11, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560. "We review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard. But the circuit court's application of the historical facts to constitutional principles is a question of law we review independently." Id. (internal citations omitted).

Reasonable Suspicion Law

Law enforcement officers may approach citizens and ask questions. In *State v. VanBeek*, 2021 WI 51, ¶¶ 26-28, 397 Wis. 2d 311, 327-328, the Court stated,

police-citizen interaction Not every implicates the Fourth Amendment. See Terry, 392 U.S. at 19 n.16; see also State v. Griffith, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 39, 263 Wis. 2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72. Law enforcement officers may approach citizens on the put questions to them, and ask for street, identification without implicating the Fourth Amendment "as long as the police do not covey a message that compliance with their request is required." Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991); see also INS v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 216 (1984) ("[P]olice questioning, by itself, is Fourth Amendment unlikely to result in a violation. While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response."). Absent law enforcement conduct that indicates required compliance, these types of interactions are consensual encounters

and generally to not receive Fourth Amendment scrutiny. *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 434.

However, a police-citizen interaction can rise to the level of a temporary investigative detention, commonly referred to as a Terry stop. Terry, 392 U.S. at 30. To pass Fourth Amendment scrutiny, Terry stops must be supported by reasonable suspicion. Id.; see Wis. Stat. \$968.24 (codifying the standard for Terry stops).

An officer has reasonable suspicion "when, at the time of the stop, he or she possesses specific and articulable facts which would warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity [is or] was afoot." State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996)(citing State v. Chambers, 55 Wis. 2d 289, 294, 198 N.W.2d 377 (1972)).

In State v. Rose, 2018 WI App. 5, ¶¶ 14-16, 379 Wis.2d

664, 672-672, the Court stated,

A law enforcement officer may detain an individual for investigative purposes if reasonable suspicion or probable cause of See State v. Young, criminal activity exists. 2006 WI 98, ¶¶ 20-21, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. Reasonable suspicion exists if, under the totality of the circumstances, "the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." State v. Post 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. Reasonable suspicion must be based on more than an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch.' "Id., ¶10 (citation omitted). An officer "'must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the intrusion of the stop." See id (citation omitted); see also State v. Betow, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999). Additionally, our Supreme Court explained:

[S]uspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the [principal] function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity. Therefore, if any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, the officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry.

Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, \P 21 (quoting State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)) (alterations in Young).

. . .

As Rose points out, a temporary investigative seizure based on reasonable suspicion may last only for the amount of time "reasonably required to complete [the stop's] mission"—"a traffic stop 'prolonged beyond' that point is 'unlawful.'" See Rodriguez v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1616 (2015) (citation omitted).

In State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55-56 (1996), the

Court stated,

The fundamental focus of the Fourth Amendment, and Wis. Stat. §968.24, is reasonableness. *State* v. *Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). The court of appeals accurately stated the test to be used for determining whether an investigatory stop was reasonable:

The test is an objective one, focusing on the reasonableness of the officer's intrusion into the defendant's freedom of movement: "law enforcement officers may only infringe on the individual's interest to be free of a stop and detention if they have a suspicion grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that the individual has committed [or was committing or is about to commit] a crime. An 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or "hunch"...will not suffice.'"

In State v. Nimmer, 2022 WI 47, ¶¶ 24, 25, 402 Wis. 2d

416, 429-430, the Court stated,

Reasonable suspicion depends on the "totality of the circumstances." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 9 (citing State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 18, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634). Just last term, we emphasized that "[w]e focused not on isolated, independent facts, but on 'the whole picture' viewed together." Id. (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417-18 (1981)). "Indeed, Terry itself involved a series of acts, innocent if of them perhaps viewed each separately, but which taken together warranted further investigation." Id. (quoting United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 9-10 (1989)). In this case, the Court of Appeals erred by utilizing a "divide-and-conquer analysis." See District of Columbia v. Wesby, 583 U.S.18 18, 138 S. Ct. 577, 588 (2018) (quoting United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002)).

Reasonable suspicion is "a low bar[.]" Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8 (citing Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 21; State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 19, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625); see also Anderson I, 389 Wis. 2d 106, ¶ 33 ("reasonable suspicion is a fairly low standard to meet." 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶ 19)). (citing Eason, "Although a mere hunch does not create reasonable suspicion, the level of suspicion the standard requires is considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence, and obviously less than is necessary for probable cause[.]" Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393 397 (2014) (internal citations and quotations marks removed). "[0]fficers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a [Terry] stop." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8 (quoting State v. Anderson

Page 16 of 23

(Anderson II), 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763
(1990)).
In State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 35, 362 Wis. 2d
138, 164-165, the Court stated, "The probable cause
requirement 'deals with probabilities' and must be
sufficient 'to lead a reasonable officer to believe that
quilt is more than a possibility.'"

State's Reasoning

For an *arrest*, a law enforcement officer needs probable cause. Probable cause entails sufficient facts from which a reasonable officer could conclude that a suspect is committing a crime. Probable cause does not mean more probable than not. As *Blatterman* points out, probable cause means sufficient facts and inferences that would lead a reasonable officer to conclude that guilt is *more than a mere possibility*. (emphasis added).

Reasonable suspicion is a body of facts and inferences that is less than probable cause and therefore, is less than the standard of *more than a mere possibility*. Logically speaking, reasonable suspicion could be viewed as evidence that would be less than a mere possibility of guilt or at most a mere possibility of guilt.

Based on *Nimmer*, the Reasonable Suspicion standard is a low bar and is a fairly low standard to meet.

Officer Hougan was not acting on a hunch or on inarticulable facts. Articulable facts in this case included:

- Officer Hougan receiving a report of a drunk driver driving a blue Ford Escape.
- Officer Hougan saw the blue Ford Escape.
- There was virtually no other traffic on the road.
- Mr. Blankenship pulled over and stopped without having received a signal from Officer Hougan.
- Mr. Blankenship's speech was slurred.
- Mr. Blankenship stating that people believed he was an alcoholic.
- Mr. Blankenship at one point being deprived of possession of his car keys (presumably by the people who believed he was an alcoholic and probably reported him as driving drunk).
- Mr. Blankenship's description of events that at first suggested that he was being accused of having hit a child with his car that night.
- Differing statements made by Mr. Blankenship regarding the quantity and the timing of his alcohol consumption.

Page 18 of 23

All of the above factors and reasonable inferences that can be drawn from those facts should be sufficient to cause a Reasonable Officer to suspect that it was at least possible that Mr. Blankenship's ability to drive was impaired because of his consumption of alcohol. Given those facts and reasonable inferences that can be drawn from those facts, a Reasonable Officer should be allowed to request that the driver perform field sobriety testing before he is allowed to continue on his way.

CONCLUSION

Because of the low bar of the reasonable suspicion necessary to request field sobriety testing and because of the following facts:

- Officer Hougan receiving a report of a drunk driver driving a blue Ford Escape.
- Officer Hougan saw the blue Ford Escape.
- There was virtually no other traffic on the road.
- Mr. Blankenship pulled over and stopped without having received a signal from Officer Hougan.
- Mr. Blankenship's speech was slurred.
- Mr. Blankenship stating that people believed he was an alcoholic.

- Mr. Blankenship at one point being deprived of possession of his car keys (presumably by the people who believed he was an alcoholic and probably reported him as driving drunk).
- Mr. Blankenship's description of events that at first suggested that he was being accused of having hit a child with his car that night.
- Differing statements made by Mr. Blankenship regarding the quantity and the timing of his alcohol consumption.

The State feels that a reasonable officer should be allowed to request field sobriety testing.

The State respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals overturn the Trial Court's decision to suppress the evidence in this case.