Filed 07-17-2024

Page 1 of 13

FILED 07-17-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Grant County Case No. 23-CT-86 Appeal No. 2024AP000791-CR

v.

JOSEPH MARTIN BLANKENSHIP,

Defendant-Appellee.

## ON APPEAL OF JUDGMENT ENTERED IN GRANT COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLEE JOSEPH MARTIN BLANKENSHIP

JEREMIAH WOLFGANG MEYER-O'DAY Attorney at Law State Bar #1091114 650 County Road I Highland, WI 53543 (608) 588-6889 meyeroday.j@gmail.com Attorney for Joseph Martin Blankenship

5

### **

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I. DID OFFICER HOUGAN HAVE SUFFICIENT ARTICULABLE FACTS TO SUPPORT A REASONABLE SUSPICION OF IMPAIRED DRIVING SO AS TO ALLOW HIM TO REQUIRE MR. BLANKENSHIP TO SUBMIT TO FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS?

The trial court answered: no.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Counsel anticipates that the issues raised in this appeal can be fully addressed by the briefs. Accordingly, Mr. Blankenship is not requesting oral argument, although he does not object to such argument.

### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication may be merited here, as it involves a situation wherein reasonable suspicion that an individual was operating while impaired was found to be lacking under circumstances where there was no observed bad driving, and while there are many cases addressing reasonable suspicion of impaired driving, comparatively few involve neither an equipment violation nor any observed poor driving.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State's recitation of the facts and procedural posture of this case is largely accurate so far as it goes, with the main exception being that the circuit court found as a fact that Mr. Blankenship's speech was not slurred due to intoxication, but was off due to cognitive impairments, and as such, Mr. Blankenship adopts it with that exception, again so far as it goes, but adds the following information so as to ensure that said recitation is complete.

After the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the hearing on Mr. Blankenship's motion to suppress, the circuit court rendered an oral ruling ultimately granting the motion. (R20: 28). In so doing, the court made a number of factual findings, none of which are challenged by the State as being clearly erroneous, and which include all of the following: (1) there was no evidence of bad driving on Mr. Blankenship's part (R20: 24); (2) there had been a seemingly anonymous but identifiable reporter who alleged to dispatch that Mr. Blankenship was a drunk driver, that said reporter had taken away his keys for a time, and that he was driving a vehicle of a particular make and color in a particular direction, the last of which details regarding the vehicle and its direction of travel were confirmed by the officer (R20: 25); (3) the time was 11:39 at night, which is not bar time, but is also not 6:00 p.m. (R20: 26); (4) Mr. Blankenship's speech was not substantially slurred, and while his demeanor was slow, it was not the kind of slow associated with drunkenness, but rather with cognitive issues (R20: 26); (5) Mr. Blankenship did not exhibit an odor of intoxicants (R20: 26); (6) Mr. Blankenship

did not exhibit bloodshot eyes (R20: 26); (7) when asked about his alcohol consumption that day, Mr. Blankenship did not state that he had "a couple" or "a few" beers, but rather stated that he had three beers three or four hours prior to driving (R20: 26); (8) Mr. Blankenship described his interaction with the reporting party in such a way that suggested that said party was picking on him rather than concerned that he was drunk, which the circuit court found reduced the reliability of the report of drunk driving (R20: 26-27); and (9) the report itself was vague and of limited credibility given what the officer actually observed. (R20: 28).

The circuit court ultimately found that the combination of the vague report, slight slowness of speech that was "not entirely clearly alcohol related," and Mr. Blankenship's admission to consuming a precise amount of alcohol three or four hours before did not supply the officer with sufficient reasonable suspicion to justify the officer's request that Mr. Blankenship submit to field sobriety testing, that Mr. Blankenship's conduct in immediately handing his driver's license to Officer Hougan when Hougan approached his vehicle meant nothing given that this is what citizens are supposed to do in such situations, and that as a result, Mr. Blankenship's motion had to be granted. (R20: 28).

The State filed a notice of appeal, and this appeal follows. Further facts shall be stated as necessary below.

### ARGUMENT

# I. THE CIRCUIT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT OFFICER HOUGAN DID NOT HAVE SUFFICIENT ARTICULABLE FACTS TO SUPPORT A REASONABLE SUSPICION OF IMPAIRED DRIVING SO AS TO ALLOW HIM TO REQUIRE MR. BLANKENSHIP TO SUBMIT TO FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS.

A suppression issue presents a question of constitutional fact. *See State v. Floyd*, 2017 WI 78, ¶11, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560. "[This Court reviews] the circuit court' s findings of historical fact under the clearly

erroneous standard. But the circuit court's application of the historical facts to constitutional principles is a question of law [which this Court reviews] independently." *Id.* (internal citations omitted, brackets added).

As is noted above, the State does not challenge any of the circuit court's factual findings as being clearly erroneous, and as such, the facts as found by the circuit court are essentially undisputed. While it is true that when there is an audiovisual recording of an event, this Court may draw its own factual conclusions from said recording, the recording in this matter fully supports all of the circuit court's findings of fact. *See State v. Walli*, 2011 WI App 86, ¶¶17-18, 334 Wis.2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898.

A law enforcement officer may detain an individual for investigative purposes if reasonable suspicion or probable cause of criminal activity exists. State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶20-21, 294 Wis.2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. Reasonable suspicion exists if, under the totality of the circumstances, "the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶13, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. Reasonable suspicion must be based on more than an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch."" Id., ¶10 (citation omitted). An officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the intrusion of the stop." Id. (citation omitted); see also State v. Betow, 226 Wis.2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999).

A traffic stop which was justified by reasonable suspicion of a traffic offense may become unlawful if the scope of the police officer's investigation extends beyond the purpose for which the stop was made without additional particularized reasonable suspicion to justify detouring from the stop's original mission. *Rodriguez v. United States*, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 135 S.Ct. 1609, 1614, 191 L.Ed.2d 492 (2015). Absent such additional reasonable suspicion, a stop which lasts longer than is reasonably necessary to address the justified mission of the stop is unlawful, as "[a]uthority for

the seizure . . . ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed." *Id.* (brackets and ellipsis added) (citing *United States v. Sharpe*, 470 U.S. 675, 686, 105 S.Ct. 1568, 84 L.Ed.2d 605 (1985) ("in determining the reasonable duration of a stop, "it [is] appropriate to examine whether the police diligently pursued [the] investigation")).

"An expansion in the scope of the inquiry, when accompanied by an extension of time longer than would have been needed for the original stop, must be supported by reasonable suspicion." *State v. Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶35, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124. A request that a person perform field sobriety tests must be supported by reasonable suspicion of impaired driving. *See State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App. 25, ¶19, 260 Wis.2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

To begin, the circuit court properly found that Mr. Blankenship was seized when Officer Hougan required him to perform field sobriety testing, a finding which the State does not challenge on appeal. Where, as here, there is no evidence of any sort of bad driving, this Court has held, albeit in an unpublished but citable opinion, that "other factors suggesting impairment must be more substantial." County of Sauk v. Leon, No. 2010AP1593, ¶20 (Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2010) (unpublished authored opinion). Here, much like in Leon, there was no evidence of bad driving, nor was there speeding, lane deviations, weaving within the lane, etc. Further, as the circuit court properly found, Mr. Blankenship did not emit any odor of alcoholic beverages, and his eyes were neither bloodshot nor glossy. Further, precisely similarly to Leon, Mr. Blankenship did not present Hougan with a "suspiciously vague admission" to having had "a few" or "a couple" of drinks, he stated that he had had three beers three to four hours earlier. (R20: 26); *Leon*, No. 2010AP1593, ¶21.

In yet another parallel with *Leon*, Mr. Blankenship was asked to perform field sobriety tests at around 11:39 p.m., and while that fact does add somewhat to the reasonable suspicion calculus, it does not do so strongly. *Id.* Further, the tip received by the officer that Mr. Blankenship was a "drunk driver" was vague, and as the circuit court found, was of diminished credibility in light of Mr. Blankenship's

Page 9 of 13

uncontradicted account of a group of people essentially picking on him; the State does not argue that the circuit court's finding to this effect was clearly erroneous, and as such, that finding must be accepted by this Court. *Walli*, 334 Wis.2d 402, ¶17. The State similarly does not argue that the circuit court's finding that Mr. Blankenship's speech, while slowed, was not substantially slurred, and what slowing was there was apparently not due to drunkenness, but rather to a cognitive issue, and in light of what is revealed by the squad video, this finding could not be found to be clearly erroneous even if the State had raised such a challenge. *See id.* 

Thus, as found by the circuit court, the following facts and only these facts were available to Hougan when he required Mr. Blankenship to submit to field sobriety testing: (1) he had admitted to consuming three beers three to four hours prior to the stop; (2) his speech was very slightly slurred, but that it was apparent that what slowness there was to his speech was not due to drunkenness but rather to a cognitive issue; and (3) there was a vague and not particularly credible, under all of the circumstances, tip that Mr, Blankenship may be a "drunk driver." These facts do not even add up to the level of suspicion available to the officer in Leon, and they certainly do not rise to the level of suspicion present in many cases where courts have found that reasonable suspicion of impaired driving was present. See, e.g., State v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, ¶22, 359 Wis.2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834 (bloodshot eyes, odor of intoxicants, slurred speech indicators of intoxication); see also State v. Lange, 2009 WI 49, ¶¶33, 37, 317 Wis.2d 383, 766 N.W. 2d 551 (possible indicators of intoxication include prior convictions for OWI, odors of intoxicants, admission of consumption).

The State cites the facts that there were no other vehicles on the road, and that Mr. Blankenship pulled over without being signaled to do so as allegedly suspicious facts, but no case has ever held that such things are in fact suspicious, and under the circumstances here these are not in fact suspicious facts at all. There is nothing suspicious about being the only car on the road in a small town between 11pm and midnight, and as Mr. Blankenship explained to Hougan, he had just left a crowd of people who had taken his keys for a time and who were picking on him, leading him to conclude that the officer was in fact looking for him. His acquiescence to police authority cannot be a reason to believe that Mr. Blankenship was impaired. Further, the notable absence of nearly all traditional indicia of impairment here means that the circuit court's ruling that Hougan did not possess sufficient articulable and objective facts under the totality of the circumstances to give rise to a reasonable suspicion of impairment, and therefore the circuit court's ruling granting Mr. Blankenship's motion to suppress must be affirmed. *Post*, 301 Wis.2d 1, ¶13.

# CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the circuit court's order granting Mr. Blankenship's motion to suppress must be affirmed by this Court.